IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA  
**SC09-1849**

**CASE NO. 3D06-2579**  
**L.T. CASE NO.: 03-28811 CA 21**

LAZARO E. SOSA,

Plaintiff/Appellee/Petitioner

v.

SAFEWAY PREMIUM FINANCE COMPANY

Defendant/Appellant/Respondent

---

ON APPEAL FROM AN OPINION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF  
APPEAL

---

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER LAZARO E. SOSA**

---

Date: August 18, 2010

---

PAUL B. FELTMAN, ESQ.  
Fla. Bar. No.: 992046  
BENJAMIN R. ALVAREZ, ESQ.  
Fla. Bar. No.: 175633  
EDUARDO GOMEZ, ESQ.  
Fla. Bar. No.: 658421  
ALVAREZ, CARBONELL,  
FELTMAN, JIMENEZ &  
GOMEZ, PL  
2100 Ponce de Leon Blvd. Suite 750  
Coral Gables, FL 33143

**

## INTRODUCTION

This matter arises out of the Third District Court of Appeal's Opinion in *Safeway Premium Finance Co. v. Sosa*, 15 So. 3d 8 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009), rehearing and rehearing en banc *denied*, wherein the Court of Appeal held that Plaintiff Lazaro E. Sosa ("Plaintiff") allegedly failed to meet the requirements of Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.220, specifically, Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.220(a)(2), requiring commonality, and Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.220(b)(3), requiring that common questions of law or fact predominate over the individual questions of the separate members. The Court of Appeal stated that due to the manual review process put in place by Safeway Premium Finance Co., ("Defendant"), the issue of whether Defendant knowingly overcharged Plaintiff and other members of the certified class an extra \$20 in violation of §§ 627.835 and 627.840(3)(b), Fla. Stat., would allegedly require the facts regarding the processing of each application be reviewed individually. *Id.* The Court of Appeal stated: "As such, Sosa must allege facts to show that Safeway billed and accepted the additional twenty dollars from him and from each class member with knowledge that its actions violated Florida Statutes." *Id.* at 10-11. As set forth herein, Plaintiff more than amply set forth facts that revealed Defendant knowingly billed and accepted the additional twenty dollars from Plaintiff and the other class members through the same general intent to establish a practice or course of conduct allowing the overcharges to occur and knew that the

overcharges were in violation of Florida Statutes. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in certifying the class and the Opinion of the Court of Appeal is properly reversed and this matter remanded for further proceedings.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS**

Defendant is a Premium Finance Company. App.-Tab F at 59-61.<sup>1</sup> It is a “non-standard” insurance company within the insurance industry. *Id.* It is in the business of financing insurance policies for lower income automobile drivers like the Plaintiff. *Id.* at 30. The Defendant charges a statutorily permitted \$20.00 dollar fee pursuant to § 627.840(3)(b), Fla. Stat. *Id.* at 31. In addition, it charges the premium for the insurance and interest thereon for each of its customers. *Id.* The interest rates vary and can be high depending on the amount and time the premium is financed. For example, Plaintiff’s November 2002 contract had an annual percentage rate (“APR”) of 62.84%. *Id.* at 34. His November 2003 contract had an APR of 47.49%. App. at Tab H. The Defendant finances insurance policies sold by agencies on behalf of United Auto Insurance (“UAI”). UAI has the exact same shareholders and officers and is located in the same

---

<sup>1</sup> “App.-\_\_” refers to the Appendix filed by Defendant Safeway Premium Finance Company in the Third District Court of Appeal, followed by a description of the relevant document or testimony. “Supp. App.-\_\_”, refers to the Supplemental Appendix filed by the Plaintiff Lazaro E. Sosa, followed by a description of the relevant document or testimony.

facility as Defendant. App.-Tab F at 26-30. United Auto Insurance Group is the parent company of Defendant. *Id.*

UAI sells insurance through approximately 300 agencies. App.-Tab F at 61. All an agency needs to sell UAI insurance is a computer program called Quick Quote. *Id.* The agencies charge the initial \$20 upfront by placing it in the premium finance contracts, which are then sent to and received by the Defendant in its mailroom. *Id.* at pp. 54-55. That \$20.00 charge is placed in the premium finance contract automatically by the agent in a predetermined amount pursuant to a code programmed into the Quick Quote program at the Defendant's request. *Id.*

Premium Finance Companies are regulated by Florida Statute Chapter 627 Insurance Rates and Contracts Part XV Premium Finance Companies and Agreements. In 2001 the Florida Department of Insurance (the "DOI") audited the Defendant's business practices and books for the period from January 1, 1998 through December 31, 1999. As a result of the audit, the DOI made the following finding:

Section 627.840(3)(b), Florida Statutes, and section 4-196.038, Florida Administrative Code, provides that the service charge shall be a maximum of \$12 per \$100 per year plus an additional charge not exceeding \$20. Such additional charge may be charged only once in a 12 month period for any one customer unless that customer's policy has been cancelled due to nonpayment within the immediately preceding 12 month period. *Our examination disclosed numerous accounts where insureds were inappropriately charged the additional service charge twice during a 12-month period.* Accordingly,

management should ensure controls are established to prevent this from reoccurring.

Supp. App.-Tab 2, February 8, 2001 letter from DOI (emphasis supplied). Thus, on that date, the DOI put the Defendant on notice of its overcharging and therefore Defendant had knowledge it was overcharging its customers. The Defendant's Comptroller and Chief Financial Officer was Mr. Juan Ferrer. Mr. Ferrer informed the Defendant's President of the violation, so he too knew that customers were being overcharged. App.-Tab F at 52; Supp. App.-Tab 3, memorandum to Defendant's President Richard Parillo. However, neither Mr. Ferrer nor any other employee of the Defendant informed the 300 or so agencies taking applications for premium finance contracts that no additional \$20.00 fee could be charged in a 12 month period. App.-Tab F at 54.

Mr. Ferrer testified that the Defendant decided not to refund the money to the customers that were identified in the DOI audit as being overcharged. App.-Tab F at 20-22. Defendant simply kept those monies with the knowledge that those customers had been improperly overcharged an additional \$20.00. *Id.* No self audit was performed. *Id.* To date, Defendant still retains and uses some of that money to finance contracts. *Id.*

Mr. Ferrer met with Jim Machul of UAI to develop corrective measures ordered by the DOI. App.-Tab G at 14. Mr. Machul is an employee of UAI, but

handles Defendant's accounting as part of his job requirements. *Id.* at 5. As a result of their meeting, Mr. Ferrer sent a letter to the DOI as to what corrective action Defendant was going to take. Supp. App.-Tab 1. In his letter to the DOI he wrote:

- A. Effective February 1, 2001, six-month renewals will be reviewed for violation of the \$20 service fee.
- B. If the contract is in violation, we will credit the insured's account accordingly.

*Id.*

Mr. Ferrer submitted an affidavit below wherein he outlined the procedure that was supposed to correct the problem of overcharging customers in violation of Florida law. As set forth in his Affidavit, Defendant implemented a manual procedure to check each application individually as it arrived in the mailroom. App.-E at ¶ 5. A "Safeway" clerk initially checked each application to make a determination whether the applicant had prior insurance and/or whether that prior insurance was for a six month period. *Id.* at ¶¶ 6-8. If she noted that the application indicated that there was prior insurance with UAI, and/or that the prior insurance was for a six month period, the application was set aside. *Id.* Then another "Safeway" clerk would make another check of the isolated applications by customer name in order to determine whether the prior policy was cancelled for non-payment. *Id.* at ¶ 9-11. If the prior insurance policy was cancelled for

nonpayment, then the second clerk would put the application and agreement back in the stack indicating that it was ready for continued processing because the \$20.00 fee was permitted by statute. *Id.* If there was no cancellation of the prior insurance for non-payment, the application would be processed through Defendant's computer software, known as UNICORP, with directions to credit the upfront \$20.00 additional charge. *Id.* at ¶ 11. This was done manually by Mr. Machul using UNICORP. App.-Tab G at 10. The policy as implemented was verbal and both Mr. Ferrer and Mr. Machul testified that there was no written policy as to how to deal with the issue of overcharges. App.-Tab F at 40-41; App.-Tab G at 26.

After submitting his Affidavit in June of 2004, alleging that "Safeway" clerks reviewed each application, Mr. Ferrer testified in April of 2005 that none of the Defendant's employees actually worked in the Safeway mailroom. App.-Tab F at 29 lines 14-17. Mr. Machul confirmed this fact when he testified that there were no employees of the Defendant in the mailroom where the applications were received and reviewed, because only UAI employees worked in the mailroom. App.-Tab G at 40 lines 9-18. This testimony contradicted the representation in Mr. Ferrer's affidavit that two "Safeway" mailroom clerks, Brenda Joseph and Skarling Ruiz, made the initial review of the applications. App. E at ¶¶ 6-9. When asked which company's employees worked in the mailroom, Mr. Machul confirmed that

it was indeed UAI employees that checked all incoming mail. App.-Tab G at 40. However, UAI was not charged by the DOI to make a change in the process whereby customers were overcharged – Defendant was. So, Defendant knowingly failed to have its own employees implementing the unwritten policy of how to check the applications when they came in. As explained in greater detail below, before the policy was implemented between January 1998 and December 1999, there were approximately 4,000 overcharges. App.-Tab F at 19. Amazingly, after the implementation of the unwritten “policy” there were another approximately 4,000 overcharges. *Id.*

Mr. Ferrer testified that in addition to using a customer’s name to check for overcharges, a customer’s address was also checked. App.-Tab F at 17. Interestingly, Mr. Ferrer testified that the manual system of checking by name and/or address was the best available system at the time. *Id.* In its Opinion, the Court of Appeal made much of the fact that the manual system had flaws and that mistakes could occur because a name or address could change causing the error. *Sosa*, 15 So. 3d at 11. The Court of Appeal even took at face value that: “According to Safeway, no computerized process existed in the industry that could perform this task [checking for overcharges] at this time.” *Id.* at 13. However, because Plaintiff is precluded from engaging in merits discovery during the class

certification stage of the litigation, Defendant's self serving allegation has stood unchallenged.

However, each application taken by the agencies and each Truth in Lending Act Statement generated by the Defendant contained the applicant's social security number. App.-Tab D at Exhibits 1-2; App.-Tab E at Exhibits A-C. The social security number could have easily been used with no possible errors for overcharging. That is because it, unlike a name or address, would not change, be duplicative or subject to human error. Or, more to the point, why not charge the \$20.00 *after* the application process is complete instead of taking the money up front and "asking questions later?" This could easily be done by Defendant telling its agents to simply not program the \$20 charge in their Quick Quote program. Or, Defendant could charge \$10.00 on each six month application thus never violating the statute.

As set forth below, Defendant had used the UNICORP computer system since at least 1997, well before the DOI audit. App.-Tab G at 18. After suit was filed, the Defendant sought to forego the manual process and UNICORP now checks all of the applications. *Id.* at 18-20. However, from the time of the original citation by Florida's DOI in February 2001 and up through the present, Defendant still uses *names and addresses* to check applications instead of using, for example, the applicant's social security number. *Id.* Since Defendant knows that the use of

names and addresses invariably leads to overcharges, the fact that it continues to use those exact parameters in the UNICORP system reveals that it knows that it is overcharging its customers to this day, through its routine practice and course of conduct, in what has now become a reckless violation of Florida law and admonishments by the DOI.

Plaintiff purchased his first insurance contract with UAI on November 26, 2002. App.-Tab E at Exhibit A at p. 2. On or about the same date, Plaintiff and Defendant entered into a six month premium finance agreement whereby the Defendant would pay the premiums for Plaintiff's insurance contract with UAI and paid \$20.00. App.-Tab D at Exhibit A. On May 24, 2003, six months later, Plaintiff entered into another six month premium finance agreement with the Defendant and at that time was charged and paid another \$20.00 in violation of § 627.840(3)(b), Fla. Stat. *Id.* at Exhibit B. On November 10, 2003, Plaintiff applied for his third contract of insurance dated October 31, 2003. App.-Tab E ¶ 21 Exhibit C at p. 2. On November 24, 2003, the Plaintiff entered into his third finance agreement with Defendant. *Id.* at p. 1. As set forth in his Affidavit, Mr. Ferrer admitted that the violation occurred when Plaintiff entered into his second contract on May 24, 2003 and paid the additional \$20.00 within the 12 month period. App.-Tab E at ¶¶ 17-24. When they attempted to credit Plaintiff \$20.00 on November 17, 2003, it was done on his third contract, not his second. *Id.* at

Exhibit C at p. 6, printout showing credit was made on the third contract *six months after the violation of § 627.840(b)(3)*.

On December 16, 2003, Plaintiff filed his Class Action Complaint. App.-Tab D. On March 13, 2004, Defendant filed an Amended Motion to Dismiss, raising the same arguments raised in its appellate brief, which was denied by the Honorable Norman S. Gerstein by Order dated May 4, 2004. Supp. App.-Tabs 7-8, respectively. Defendant filed its Answer and Affirmative Defenses on May 24, 2004. Supp. App.-Tab 6. Defendant filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on June 3, 2004. Supp.App.-Tab 9. Defendant advanced the same arguments in the motion for summary judgment that it made in its Brief before the Court of Appeal. Judge Gerstein again rejected the Defendant's argument and denied the motion for summary judgment by Order dated October 19, 2001. Supp. App.-Tab 10.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> Defendant attempted to argue below that Plaintiff did not have standing because, in spite of the overcharge and violation of the statute, Plaintiff had been credited \$20.00 on November 17, 2003, prior to the filing of the suit. However, as set forth above, the Plaintiff was overcharged the \$20.00 on May 24, 2003 on his second contract in violation of § 627.835, Fla. Stat. The credit was on the third contract six months later and not the second contract. The Defendant could have charged the additional \$20.00 on the third contract as that would have been 12 months after the first contract was signed. Pursuant to the statute, the Defendant forfeits the entire premium finance charge, plus twice the amount of the premium finance charge so paid once it violates the statute. That amount was not paid to Plaintiff. The Court of Appeal properly rejected the Defendant's standing argument.

Defendant relied upon the defective Affidavit of Mr. Ferrer in support of each of its motions.

After suit was filed, Mr. Ferrer and Mr. Machul had yet another meeting. App.-Tab at 16. Immediately, the Defendant did something it did not do prior to the DOI audit or after it – it conducted its own audit. The audit was conducted using the UNICORP computer system that Defendant had in place since at least the time of the original DOI investigation seven years earlier. *Id.* at 18. This was strange because since February 2001, the Defendant was indisputably aware of the fact that it was overcharging customers, yet knowingly continued to allow it to happen and conducted no routine audits to stop such illegal practice.

Mr. Ferrer testified that the audit started from the date of the original DOI investigation in 1998 and was conducted through the date of the lawsuit. App.-Tab F at 19. It was determined that there were approximately 8,000 overcharges that occurred from the start date of the DOI audit in 1998 through the date of the filing of the lawsuit. *Id.* Defendant had knowledge all that time that it had overcharged customers because the DOI told them they had and Mr. Ferrer admitted that he knew that the system he put in place was not going to catch all of the overcharges in continuing violation of Florida law. App.-Tab E Affidavit of Ferrer at ¶ 28. The

---

Further, the Defendant attempted to “pick off” the Plaintiff after suit was filed by sending him a \$20.00 check for violating the statute. That check was never cashed.

Defendant never conducted any audits whatsoever prior to the suit, even though it used its longstanding UNICORP computer system to conduct an audit immediately after suit was filed by the Plaintiff. App.-Tab F at 23.

With regard to the approximately 8,000 overcharges, the Defendant purportedly credited “some four thousand accounts.” App.-Tab F at 22-23. None of those customers credited were told why or were provided an explanation for the purported credit. *Id.* Thus, it is indisputable that all of those customers are entitled to receive additional statutory damages and Defendant knows it. Defendant sent out approximately 4,000 other checks to customers in the amount of \$20.00 of which approximately 1,300 to this day have not been cashed and said funds are still retained by the Defendant. *Id.* at 23. The Defendant did not send a letter with the checks explaining to their customers the reason for the refund, i.e. that there was a violation of Florida law. *Id.* at 34. Indeed, Mr. Ferrer as Comptroller and CFO of the Defendant admitted that for the time period from 1998 through the filing of the suit in late 2003, the Defendant used the overcharged monies to finance other premium finance contracts, some of which had APRs exceeding 60% such as Plaintiff’s contract. *Id.* at pp. 31-36. Likewise, Mr. Machul admitted that the money obtained from the 8,000 customers that had been previously overcharged was used to finance premium finance contracts. App.-Tab G at 22. No interest was repaid to the customers that were overcharged, nor did Defendant pay them an

additional \$20.00. App.-Tab F at 31-36. Mr. Ferrer admitted that he knows that Defendant's customers should have been repaid more than the \$20.00 sent to them, but, to this day, they knowingly have failed to do so:

Q: Were you aware that the contract holder by you overcharging them \$20 in a twelve month period was entitled to more than the \$20?

A: No, sir.

Q: You never knew that?

A: No, sir.

Q: Do you know now?

A: Excuse me?

Q: Do you know now?

A: At this stage, yes, sir.

App.-Tab F at 36. Mr. Machul who handles Defendant's accounting admitted that he too *knew* the manual system that they had in place did not work. App.-Tab G at 25 lines 18-25 through 26 line 1.

Mr. Machul testified that, to this day, the UNICORP computer system is the only safeguard used by Defendant to prevent people from being overcharged in violation of Florida Statute. App.-Tab G at 19. However, instead of using something like a social security number, which never changes, the UNICORP system still checks *names and addresses*. *Id.* (emphasis supplied). In its Opinion,

the Third District Court of Appeal stated that the use of names and addresses would lead to mistakes from human error due to the inevitable change of names and addresses. *Sosa*, 15 So. 3d at 11. Now, instead of human error, the Defendant has knowingly designed the exact error into its new supposedly improved processes via its new computer system and yet it is still overcharging customers, just like it did prior to the filing of Plaintiff's Complaint. And, Defendant still does not conduct audits to ensure that it is not in violation of Florida law. App.-Tab G at 19-20. This is what is known from the very limited non-merits discovery taken in the case thus far.

On February 6, 2006, the Plaintiff filed his Motion for Class Certification and Incorporated Memorandum of Law. App.-Tab A. On June 15, 2006, Defendant filed its Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Class Certification. Thereafter, on July 11, 2006, the trial court conducted a lengthy evidentiary hearing on the motion for class certification. App.-Tab M. After having heard extensive argument from counsel and reviewing all papers, the trial court entered its Order Granting Motion for Class Certification. App.-Tab C. In considering its Order, the trial court conducted a rigorous analysis and as set forth in the Order specifically considered: 1) the arguments presented at the class certification hearing; 2) Plaintiff's Class Action Complaint; 3) Defendant's Answer and Affirmative Defenses; 4) Plaintiff's Motion for Class Certification and

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