IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC09-1849

LAZARO E. SOSA, in his own right
and on behalf of all persons
similarly situated
•

LOWER TRIBUNAL CASE NO(S). 3D06-2579, 03-28811

Petitioner,
vs.
SAFEWAY PREMIUM FINANCE COMPANY, a Florida corporation,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

COLODNY, FASS, TALENFELD, KARLINSKY & ABATE, P.A. MARIA ELENA ABATE, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 770418 Attorney for Respondent One Financial Plaza, 23rd Floor 100 Southeast Third Avenue

Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33394

Telephone: 954 492-4010

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

In this case, although there will be some factual variations among the claims of each class member, those variations go to the determination of each class member's damages rather than to the elements of the claims. The actual claims are based on the same legal theories and are based on the same course of conduct by the sheriff.

Morgan v. Coats, 33 So.3d at 66.

Unlike in *Morgan*, in the case at bar, the "variances" in each putative class member's claim determine not the amount of damages owed, but whether an individual has a statutory claim at all. Because Safeway had a manual system in place, to recover from Safeway, each individual would have to prove whether or not Safeway acted with intent and knowingly overcharged them. In *Morgan*, all

deputies were regularly denied payment of wages for "on call" duty. Whether or not an individual was paid for a meal break because on that particular day their break was interrupted could be quickly determined by a simple analysis of pay records. The "variances" in the instant case, by contrast, would require a jury determination to establish the viability of each individual claim since the question of "knowledge" and intent would be for the jury to decide.¹⁸

b. The Third District correctly determined that Sosa's case did not meet the class action requirement of typicality.

In addition to commonality, Rule 1.220(a)(3) requires that the class representative's claims be typical of the claim of each member of the class. In other words, there must be a nexus between the class representative's claims or defenses and the common questions of fact or law which unite the class. A sufficient nexus is established if the claims or defenses of the class and the class representative arise from the same event or pattern or practice and are based on the same legal theory. ... A factual variation will not render a class representative's claim atypical unless the factual position of the representative markedly differs

1

¹⁸ Plaintiff's failure in being able to prove intent on a class-wide basis goes hand-in-hand with his failure to demonstrate numerosity. When a court cannot reasonably ascertain if a person is a member of the class, the requirement of numerosity is not met. *Canal Insurance Company v. Gibraltar Budget Plan, Inc.*, 2010 WL 2925378 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010). While the evidence below indicated that numerous individuals had been <u>mistakenly</u> overcharged in the six years prior to the filing of the class action, nothing in the record below established that any individual was "knowingly" overcharged and to conclude otherwise would constitute a giant "leap of logic." *See, Id.*, at *3.

from that of other members of the class. Kornberg v. Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc., 741 F.2d 1332, 1337 (11th Cir. 1984) (citations omitted) (emphasis added). Moreover, "[t]he representatives' claims and the class members' claims...[should] not [be] antagonistic in any way." *Smith*, 847 So. 2d at 1111 (citation omitted).

As to typicality, Sosa's individual "factual position...markedly differs from that of other members of the class." *Kornberg*, 741 F.2d at 1337 (citation omitted). Specifically, Sosa had no injury since he was credited the \$20 fee before he filed the claim, quite distinct from the other putative class members whose billing errors were not corrected until after suit was filed. (App. B, 7 ¶¶33–34); (App. E, 4 ¶24). Moreover —and noticeably unlike the other putative class members— he was refunded an additional \$20 after the claim was filed and thus, is an atypical plaintiff because he recovered twice the amount of the overcharge. See Terry L. Braun, P.A., 827 So. 2d at 268 (noting that plaintiff's "experience" with defendant appeared to be very different than other class, and thus failed to satisfy the typicality requirement). As a result of Sosa's unique circumstances, his claims are antagonistic to the other class members and therefore neither the typicality nor the commonality requirement is met.

Sosa's claim is also atypical for the reasons recognized by Judge Shepherd's concurring opinion. From December 10, 1999 until February 16, 2001, a class

action lawsuit may have been certified for "knowing" violations. Sosa's overcharge, however, occurred in June of 2003, well after a manual review system had been put in place to ensure that Safeway was in compliance with the subject statute. Thus, Sosa's claim was not typical of the claims of individuals who had been charged the \$20 fee prior to the February 16, 2001 establishment of the review system; and he therefore lacked standing to raise any such claim on behalf of such a class:

Although, in a proper case, we might remand with the direction there be a separate adjudication for this group of potential claimants, we cannot consider that alternative here because <u>Sosa's claim is not typical</u> of that group of potential claimants.

Sosa, 15 So.3d at 14 (Shepherd, J., concurring)(emphasis added).

In sum, Sosa's claim is atypical because he cannot prove *in his own case* that Safeway's actions were "knowing." The recent case of *Kirts v. Green Bullion Financial Services, LLC*, 2010 WL 3184382 (S.D. Fla. August 3, 2010) is instructive. In *Kirts*, certification was denied where, *inter alia*, the named plaintiffs had made no showing that they could prove their own claim. As in the instant case, the Plaintiff's purported class definition "assumed the Defendant's

¹

¹⁹ While there is no testimony or evidence below regarding Safeway's intent or knowledge prior to February 16, 2001, it is clear by virtue of the Department of Insurance audit that Safeway was not in compliance with the statutory requirements prior to this time. Accordingly, it is presumed that a class could have been certified for this time period.

misconduct." In denying certification the court noted, "The question of whether Defendant's misconduct is legally actionable is a common question only 'at a very high level of abstraction." *Id.* at *8.

c. The Third District correctly determined that the trial court abused its discretion in finding that common issues of law and fact predominated over individual ones.

The *Sosa* court determined that "in order to prove damages, individual questions pertinent to all potential class members are subject to different explanations and defenses relating to *knowing* violations of these statutes. Therefore, <u>individual questions of law and fact predominate over common allegations of simple overcharge." *Sosa*, 15 So.3d at 11 (emphasis added).</u>

Where, as here, liability and damages depend on individual factual determinations, class certification is inappropriate. *InPhyNet Contracting Services v. Soria, M.D.*, 33 So.3d 766, 772 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010). *See, Black Diamond Props., Inc. v. Haines*, 940 So.2d 1176, 1178 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006)(individual issues predominated where the complaint was based on oral misrepresentations in 500 separate contracts); *Marino v. Home Depot U.S.A., Inc.*, 245 F.R.D. 729, 737 (S.D. Fla. 2007)(denying certification as an "exercise in inefficiency" where there was need for individual determinations that a deceptive act had occurred); *Vega v. T-Mobile USA, Inc.*, 564 F.3d 1256 (11th Cir. 2009) (where significant questions

concerning ultimate liability would remain for many class members common questions would not predominate).

Furthermore, whether Safeway *knowingly* charged a customer an excessive fee is undoubtedly a case-by-case determination, requiring the court to conduct a series of mini-trials to evaluate whether each particular plaintiff was knowingly charged the fee; hence, individualized issues would predominate and overwhelm the issues common to the class in this case. *See Volkswagen of Am., Inc. v. Sugarman,* 909 So. 2d 923, 924 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005) (noting "[t]he need to litigate substantially different factual issues also indicates that a class action is not superior to individual suits") (citation omitted).

IV. Sosa Lacks Standing to Prosecute A Class Action.

The Trial Court's Order granting Class Certification did not determine that Sosa had standing. Rather, the court ruled that the issue of standing was for the "trier of fact." This was a fatal error as "[t]he issue of standing is a threshold inquiry which must be made at the outset of the case before addressing whether the case is properly maintainable as a class action." *United Auto. Ins. Co. v. Diagnostics of South Florida, Inc.*, 921 So. 2d 23, 25 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006) (citations omitted); *Ferreiro*, 928 So. 2d at 376 (referencing *Taran v. Blue Cross Blue Shield of Fla., Inc.*, 685 So. 2d 1004, 1006 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997); *Baptist Hosp. of Miami, Inc. v. Demario*, 661 So. 2d 319, 321 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995)). Necessarily,

"[t]o satisfy the requirement of standing, the plaintiff must show that a case or controversy exists between the plaintiff and the defendant, and that such case or controversy continues from the commencement through the existence of the litigation." *Ferreiro*, 928 So. 2d at 377 (relying on *Godwin v. State*, 593 So. 2d 211 (Fla. 1992); *Montgomery v. Dep't of Health & Rehabilitative Servs.*, 468 So. 2d 1014, 1016 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985)) (emphasis added).

A case or controversy exists "under elementary principles of standing[,]" if a plaintiff properly alleges and proves "that he personally suffered injury." *Griffin v. Dugger*, 823 F.2d 1476, 1482 (11th Cir. 1987) (citation omitted) (emphasis added). Therefore, a party has standing when he has a sufficient stake in a justicable controversy and has an injury in fact for which relief is likely to redress. *See Chinchilla v. Star Cas. Ins. Co.*, 833 So. 2d 804, 805 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002). In the instant case, Mr. Sosa failed to meet his burden of proof on the question of standing.

"We have held that if it is demonstrated, at the outset, that plaintiffs who have filed a class action complaint have suffered no injury and have no cause of action against the defendants, that the class should not be certified." *Neighborhood Health P'ship, Inc. v. Fischer*, 913 So. 2d 703, 706 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005) (citations omitted); *See Ferreiro*, 928 So. 2d at 377 (citation omitted). More specifically, if 'none of the named plaintiffs purporting to represent a class

establishes a requisite of a case or controversy with the defendant, none may seek relief on behalf of himself or any other member of the class.' *Taran*, 685 So. 2d at 1006 (citation omitted).

For example, in *Ramon v. Aries Ins. Co.*, plaintiff was a passenger in an automobile accident. 769 So. 2d 1053, 1054 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000). Thereafter, the defendant insurance company erroneously applied the insured's deductible to plaintiff and plaintiff filed a class action alleging that defendant improperly applied deductibles to claims where the claimant was neither the insured, nor a relative. *Id.* Significantly, *after* plaintiff filed the lawsuit, the company learned of the billing error and within *one month*, paid all sums in full owed to plaintiff's medical providers. *Id.* In examining the insurance company's conduct, the court emphasized the following:

[p]resented with an error in the payment of Ramon's medical bills, the insurer immediately corrected its error by prompt payment and a stipulation to pay Ramon's fees and costs. We have previously held such actions to be totally appropriate. ... Where a defendant, prior to class certification, recognizes billing errors and desires to correct them, it may do so.

Ramon, 769 So. 2d at 1055 (referencing *Taran, Inc.*, 685 So. 2d at 1006–07) (holding, following filed complaint, insurer's conduct was proper in issuing refunds to customers before class was certified) (emphasis added); *See also Chinchilla*, 833 So. 2d at 805–06 (noting that where "insurer, prior to class

certification, recognizes billing errors and desires to correct them, it may do so. [c.o.]"). Therefore, because he was fully refunded, the *Ramon* court ultimately found that plaintiff had "no injury" *and was merely asserting that "others may have suffered the harm he no longer can claim*[.]" *Ramon*, 769 So. 2d at 1055. Thus, the court concluded that in light of the "evidence that the insurer was doing no more than it was legally obligated to do[,]" plaintiff clearly lacked standing. *Id*.

Similarly, in *Graham v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 813 So. 2d 273 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002), the named plaintiffs filed a complaint against State Farm insurance company regarding a disputed property loss claim. Shortly after plaintiffs filed their initial complaint, the insurer paid the disputed amount with interest; nevertheless, two years later, plaintiffs transferred the case to circuit court and amended the complaint to assert class action claims. *Id.* Ultimately, the *Graham* court held that because the insurance company paid all monies owed to plaintiffs, plaintiffs therefore lacked standing as there was no existing controversy between the parties. *Id.* at 274.

Sosa, like the plaintiffs in *Ramon* and *Graham*, has not suffered an injury and as a result, wholly lacks standing to bring this complaint. ²⁰ See Neighborhood

²⁰ Mr. Sosa's own case belies the Plaintiff's argument that Safeway's actions were knowing and intentional. Mr. Sosa had three consecutive premium finance contracts over an eighteen month period. During these eighteen months Sosa could legally be charged the \$20 service fee on two occasions – for the first and the third contract. Instead, he was charged the \$20 service fee for the first and the second

Health P'ship, Inc., 913 So. 2d at 706. Although Safeway mistakenly charged Sosa an additional \$20 finance fee, upon discovery of this error, Sosa was refunded the \$20 fee prior to the filing of the class action claim. See Ramon, 769 So. 2d at 1055 (noting "where a defendant prior to class certification, recognizes billing errors and desires to correct them, it may do so"); See also Graham, 813 So. 2d at 274 (explaining defendant's actions proper where defendant corrected billing mistake before plaintiff filed class action complaint leaving plaintiff with no injury and no standing). Indeed, Safeway's actions in rectifying its error occurred prior to the filing of the class action and was not prompted by the threat of litigation. Sosa was then refunded an additional \$20 by Safeway prior to the hearing on class certification.

In accordance with legal precedent, because Sosa has no injury and lacks the requisite standing, the class action complaint was appropriately dismissed by the Third District as it is axiomatic "that no class action may proceed until there is a named plaintiff with standing to represent the class[,]" [and] the proper procedure

contract and was not charged the final \$20 for the third contract. (App. Tab E, ¶¶ 17-24). The reason that Mr. Sosa's service charge was "waived" on the third contract was because the manual system recognized that he had a prior six month contract in which he had been charged the \$20. Mr. Sosa should have been charged the \$20 on his third contract. Because he received a waiver of this charge, he was returned the \$20 overcharge for his second premium finance contract. This waiver occurred twenty-nine days before his class action lawsuit was filed. (App. Tab J, Ex. A). As such, at the time that the instant lawsuit was filed, Mr. Sosa had suffered no injury and had no standing to bring a claim.

for courts to follow when the plaintiff lacks standing is to dismiss the action. *Policastro v. Stelk*, 780 So. 2d 989, 991 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001) (citation omitted); *Graham*, 813 So. 2d at 274. Based on the foregoing, the trial court's certification was in error and a clear abuse of discretion and the Third District was correct in its reversal.

CONCLUSION

Because the Third District's decision does not expressly and directly conflict with any other district court or Supreme Court opinion, this Court should dismiss this case, holding that jurisdiction was improvidently granted. Alternatively, this Court should approve the Third District's decision and hold that (1) the Third District properly determined that Plaintiff failed to allege a knowing violation of the premium finance laws; (2) the Third District properly determined that the Plaintiff was atypical and lacked commonality; (3) the Third District properly determined that the Plaintiff's claim raised more individual issues than common issues of law and fact due to the inability to prove intent on a class-wide basis; and (4) the Plaintiff lacks standing to bring this claim.